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In the early 1970s the structure was renovated again, as “Centertown,” and became 3-15 Main Street.  
Paul Houlhoulis acquired the building in ca. 1972 and soon after he made significant changes, 
creating the existing two-and-a-half-story gable-roofed form.  Alterations included the addition of a 
gable roof and a second story to the rear addition, a one-story addition behind the one-story wing 
(the former filling station), and subdivision of the building into five store fronts on the first floor 
screened by a full-width porch, with offices and small shops on the second floor (PHS 1996 II:393, 
395). 

The Clearys purchased “Centertown” in 1975, owning it until 1989 (PHS 1996 II:393).  In the last 
quarter of the twentieth century the building housed a number of well-known Peterborough 
establishments.  In 1972 the original Toadstool Bookstore opened in the eastern store (3 Main); an 
extension of the bookstore along the river side of the building was done in 1984 (PHS 1996 II:393).  
The Village Pharmacy relocated to 5 Main in 1975.  Upstairs were (lawyers) offices then a beauty 
salon/barber shop (PHS 1996 II:393).   

10 Main Street former Texaco Gas Station 1940/1980s Non-contributing building   
The building’s current appearance, a two-story rectangular building with a gable roof largely dates to 
the 1980s, when the frame upper story and square oriels on the façade were added to the original 
brick-faced, one-story building (see historic photos).  The original building was a service station 
with two service bays and a façade angled to the street (Sanborn 1941), built ca. 1940 on the site of a 
building destroyed in the 1938 flood and fire.  The greenhouse at the upper level in front of the 
gabled addition is a more recent alteration.  At the time of the 1980s alterations the building housed 
Second Addition, a baby and maternity clothing store; the building is now insurance offices. 

The 1940 garage housed Santerre’s Garage until 1960, and included a Buick dealership up to 1955.  
There were gas pumps out front.  The garage was converted into a store by the 1970s.  The upper 
stories were added in the 1980s, substantially changing the building’s appearance (PHS 1996 
II:402). Before the 1938 flood and fire, a two-and-a-half-story gable-front frame building with a 
pair of storefronts built between 1884 and 1892 occupied the site.  By 1892 a framer and a tailor 
occupied the first-floor storefronts while a photographer was located upstairs (Sanborn 1892).  Other 
occupants over the years included a restaurant on the first floor (Sanborn 1911, 1924).     

12 Main Street former garage 1940/1980s Non-contributing building   
This one-story, brick-faced building was built ca. 1940 on the site of an earlier structure destroyed in 
the 1938 fire.  The rectangular building originally featured garage bays flanking a center entry bay, 
all of which remain evident.  The original openings have been filled in, including polygonal bays in 
the outer bays, done in the 1980s.  A historic photo shows the shingled pent roof had been added 
across the façade by the 1970s when it still housed an automobile-related business.  The rear 
elevation retains its earlier appearance.    

Until the early 1980s the building was occupied by automobile-related businesses, including 
Lambert Motors (1940-1965), Peterborough Automotive Services (1965-1976), and Valley 
Automotive and Tire Center (1976-1980) (PHS 1996 II:402).  Historic photos show an island with 
gas pumps situated between the building and the street, roughly where street parking is now.  The 
enclosure of the garage bays to their present appearance dates to 1984 when the Stoops Block, as it 
was known, was converted to house several stores (PHS 1996 I:53).  Two stores now occupy the 
building. 

Prior to 1938, the building on this site was a nineteenth-century, two-story, side-gable building with 
polygonal bay windows flanking a center entry.  By the late nineteenth century it had been partially 
converted for commercial use, through additions to the west and rear elevations (Sanborns 1884, 
1892, 1904, 1911).  A billiard room occupied the upper story of the rear addition in the early 


